INVESTIGATING OFFICER'S REFORT

(O Clerrges Dldler deticle 320 DCM andd RB.C M 05, Mol for Convis-Mearial)
Ta. FROM: (N ol favestfueiting (ffevr - b, GRADE c. OREANIZATION d. DATE OF REPORT]
Lot Firse, MY
REDMAN. HUGH J. 0-4 &S, MOAS YHIMA. AZ 170071 11
|73, TO: N eaf Offierr mihn diree |b. TITLE o. DRGANIZATION
AT EE - R e e COMMANDING GENERAL IRIFMARINE AIRCRAFT WING
OONNELL. JR.. ANDREW W,
ot - ) N I
[ 32 NAME OF ACCUSED [Luv, First, M |'s. GRADE Jc. 58N 4. ORGANIZATION e. DATE OF CHARGES
PICKENTIORST. DAVID | 01-4 | XXKXXIITO | MWSS 371 MOAS YUMA. AY, 14 J000 1

(Cheek gpywaprinte answer)

IN ACCORDAMNCE WITH ARTICLE 32, UCMJ, AND R.C.M. 405, MANUAL FOR COURTS-MARTIAL
| HAVE INVESTIGATED THE CHARGES APPENDED HERETQO {Exhibit 1)

|5 THE ACCUSED WAS REPRESENTED BY COUNSEL (If not, see 9 below)
4]

[ vEs | WO

=

RS
MERIDITI L.

COUNSEL WHO REPRESENTED IHE ACCUSED WasS QUALIFIED UNDER R.C.M. 405((;(?3 B02{d)
7a. NAME OF DEFENSE COUMSEL (lesi. Firsy,
MARSHALL.

b GRADE
(-4

<
| X
X

8a. NAME OF ASSISTANT DEFENSE COUNSEL ()

FARAL HAYTIIAM

b. GRADE
1V

. ADDRESS il upypropricre)

I'c. ORGANIZATION [if approprtaig
TI&TTS, MOAS MIRAMAR, CA

c. ORCANIZATION (fapprpricte)
PUCKETT AND FARAL PC

d. ADDRESS (Il apprariates

FEO0 Dizgonal Road
ST 210 Alexandrian, WA 22314
8 T e s .'.:u"i'lnnu.'n.'rl'u:w(.-.' wantvew e, I aveaved does i I\i"H!r[_\H'Hf!'-,’
a PLACE 0. DAT
N/A A

0 f"-;l e will exprferine Sne dedead Jer Trgany 21000

HAVE BEEM INFORMED OF MY RIGHT TQ BE REFRESENTED IN THIS INVESTIGATION BY COUNSEL, INCLUDING MY RIGHT TO
CIVILIAN OR MILITARY COLINSEL QF MY CHOICE IF REASONABLY AVAILABLE. | WAIVE MY RIGHT TO COLUNSEL IN THIS INVESTIGATION,

¢c. SIGNATURE OF ACCUSED
MNAA

10, AT THE BEGINNING OF THE INVES] IGATION | INFORMED TH'= ACCUSED OF: (i e
a. THE CHARGE(S) UNDER INVESTIGATI oN o
k. THE IDENTITY OF F THE AC “CUSER
t. THERI CHTA’““!NSl SI:LF INCRIMINATION UNDEF\’ -"xFi.lCLE 31
P TE—*E PURPOSE OF THE INVESTIGATIO

e

-
m
| €1
— L
=
po

B THEI HIGI-'T rD BE PRESENT THxOUGHDJT THE TAKING OF EVi D':'\CE

33X XX XXX %X

g T E F!I{,HT 0 CROSS-EXAMINE WITNESSES )
h 'H'r RIGHT O HAVE AVAILABLE -"‘-"TF\E ES AND EVIDENCE PRESENTED
I, THE RIGHT TD PRESCN"' ANYTHING IN DEEI:NSI: E,'KT ENUATION, O"? MITH GATI'CI'\.

j. THERIGHTT TD MAKE A SWORN OR UNSWORN STAT EMENT, QEALLY OR I WRITING
1‘,€| THE ACCUSED AND F'.C,-”' 1SED'S k,DLINSEL WERE PRESENT THROUGHOUT THE PRESENTATION

I OF EVIDENCE (If tin
et st alsend iy the presentation of eenlonee, complere b bolon
b. smT [ THE CIRCUmﬂSlANCES AND DESCH&BE THE PROCEEDINGS CONDUCTED M THE ABSENCE OF ACCUSED OR COUNSEL
NIA

i

i
LT AN IR r |

T

MOTE: If additional space is required for any ilem, enter the additional material in ltem 21 or on a separate sheet. Identify such material with
the proper numerical and, if appropriate, lettered heading (Sample: "70*) Securely attach any additional sheets to the form and add & note in
the appropriate itam of the form: “See additional sheat,”

DD Form 457, AUG B4 EDITION OF OCT 64913 OBSOLETE

Adobn Profassonal B0



12a. THE FOLLOWING WITHNESSES TESTIFIED UNDER QATH: { ek apprapriote answer)

MAME (Lasy, Frsr, ML GRADE 7jfau) ORGANIZATION/ADDRESS ¢ eherver iy appripiuse) YES l "!Q
MWSS 373 MCAS M MAR. C
DIMOIL. PATRICK 1. 03 MWSS 375, MCAS MIRAMAR. CA %
. MWSS 373. MCAS MIRAMAR. CA Il
GUERRERO TV, MANLUEL A -5 2 : X
i MWSS 373 MCAS MIRAMAR. CA T (N
RICTL JACOR I, li-5 abtiShii bl X |
— ; i A
B \ Retired Prom; MWSS 373, MUAS MIBAMAR, CA
WILSON, CHRISTOPHER M. [t (Retired) | Totired From: MWSS 373, MCAS MIRAMAR. ( X
i ) o Current: 310 Robinson Lane. Pensacele, Pl 32514
I
b. THE SLS&-TH'\IC CIF THE TESTIMONY OF THESE WITNESSES HAS BEEN REDUCED TO WRITING AND IS A |T.-!v.'r HEH ) n X<
138, THEF DLLP'LI‘-'INF STATEMENTS, DCCUMENTS, OR MATTERS WERE CONSIDERED: THE ACCUSED WAS PERT'."I_FED T
EXAMINE EACH
DESCRIPTION OF ITEM LOCATION OF ORIGINAL ! wor artached
HE T Charge Sheet loind Law Center. MOAS Miramar w
1120 10y Appointment | ctler ST aaint L aw Center, MUAS Mirmar 7 X
1130 FOR Dwyer Workspace agram & | NCTS & 300 MAW G-1. Respectively i "
W Pohiey Letler |- [ Weapons Policy (W13} vy i
[ EAC C 1 UH rwyer ( U( Tenl Ihngran (I]'Lnd H'r "'m) Mdtuched ¢
I 5: Photo of FOR Dwyer COC NCIS T w
I 62 Lmail Ilum{n‘-ﬂn Pere o \Hn Wilson, 29 E~ | NiA - X .
E 7 Emgil choin from 26 Aug 1 2 5ep L N A
b. EACH ITEM CONSIDERELD, OR A COPY OR RECITAL OF THE SUBSTANCE OR NATURE THEREOF, IS ATTACHED ) A o
14, THERE ARE GRCUNDS TO BELIEVE THAT THE ﬂ-CCJSED WAS NOT MENTALLY RESPONSIBLE FOR THE CFFENSE(S) OR NOT | 5
COMFPETENT TO F‘AR’TI""F’AT: IN THE DEFENSE. rhee RCA 9049, 9fhck))
15, THE DEFENSE DID REQUEST OBJECTIONS TO BE NOTED IN THIS REPORT ff Fus. specifi in frew 21 buloncs) | % |
16. ALL ESSENTIAL WITNESSES WILL BE AVAILABLE IN THE EVENT OF TRIAL ) I
17. THE CHARGES AND SPECIFICATIONS ARE IN PROFER FORM X
L‘lE l:-lEPnSCHHI,f\HLE GHOU'\IDS EXISTTO BELIE‘U'I.: THAT THE ACCUE—;ED COM"."l ITED THE OFFENSEISJ ALLEGED s g
18, 1 AR NOT AWARE OF ANY GROUNDS WHICH WOULD DISQUALIFY ME FROM ACTING AS INVESTIGATING CII—rIC.'-R 5w

rRee BN A0Sl )

|20, | REGOMMEND:

s TRIALBY [ ]summaRy LI sPeciaL [ ] GENERAL COURT-MARTIAI
b, .x. OTHER (Spccific fir Frew 240 fferi)
21. REMA RKS_!' Tnelude, e imeces Sy, elanaion for ume delevs b .'."rl'_ F -:.'[;;u.’.'rd]_ and explangiion S e Mo answes alvved

See nttachad sheets,

22a. TYPED NAME OF INVESTIGATING QFFICER [b. GRADE ¢ ORGANZATION
H&ES MOAR YEMALAZ
HUGH 3 REDMAMN 0-4
o SIGNATURE OF INVESTIGATING OFFICER ' ' e DATE
27 o o7
_"‘ ¥ - N F [t |

DD Fnrm 457 Reverse AUG 84




Block 1d: The Article 32 hearing was originally scheduled for August 5, 2011. On July 27,
2011 a detense continuance was agreed to by Government Counsel (GC) until September 8,
2011. The basis for this continuance was to allow the accused time to sccure Civilian Defense
Counsel (CDC). On September 2, 2011, I received another continuance request from Defense
Counsel (DC) to September 29, 2011 due to scheduling conflicts of CDC. | granted this request
over GC ohjection, and have attached both continuances to this report. | recommend that the
delay from August 5, 2011 to September 29, 2011 be excludable under Rule for Court-Martial
(R.C.M.) 707, Article 10, UCMJ, and any other applicable speedy trial authorities. The original
due date of this report was October 6, 201 1. Pursuant to my instruction in the appointing order, |
contacted the Third Marine Aircraft Wing Staft Judge Advocate and requested an extension to
September 17, 2011, which was approved.

Block 2a: The 1O appointment letter was originally signed by Major General Conant,
Commanding General, Third Marine Aircraft Wing, on August 17, 2011, In light of the Third
Marine Aircraft Wing change of command on September 23, Block 2a identifies Major General
(3’ Dannell as the recipient of this investigation.

Block 10a: CDC waived the reading and explanation of the charges. The accused confirmed
that he had a copy of the charge sheet, had read through it and understood the charges under
investigation.

Block 12a: Captain Dimoh and Sergeant Guerrero testified in person at the hearing. Scrgeant
Rich and Staft Sergeant (retired) Wilson testified by telephone. Each testimony is summarized
below,

(1) Sergeant Guerrero

(a) Sergeant Guerrero is an Aircraft Recovery Specialist with MWSS 373, and joined
the unit approximately two years ago. He currently performs platoon sergeant duties. Sergeant
Guerrero was present in the Command Operations Center (COC) tent aboard Camp Dwyver,
Afghanistan, on the date in question (March 18, 2011). He explained that he, Sergeant Rich and
Staff Sergeant Wilson had been involved in an airfield runway matting project supervised by
Major Eickenhorst (hereafter “the accused™). The project goal was to repair damaged runway on
the expeditionary air field (EAF) at Camp Dwyer. At this particular point in the project, the
accused had tasked Staff Sergeant Wilson with providing him dimensions of the damaged
runway, and as it turned out, Statt Sergeant Wilson provided inaccurate figures. This caused the
accused to become frustrated and angry with Staft Sergeant Wilson. Statt Sergeant Wilson
appeared to be “in a rush” and under “more pressure” because of this project.

(b) Sergeant Guerrero referred to the diagram in IE 3 as a fair and accurate
representation of where everyone was standing or sitting at the time of the incident. He did state

that he recalled Sergeant Rich being more to Major Eickenhorst’s four o’clock position than the
six o’clock portrayed in the diagram. He also estimated Staff Sergeant Wilson to have been at
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one o’clock to the accused, whereas the diagram appears to be closer to two o'clock. Sergeant
Guerrero testified that the accused asked Staff Sergeant Wilson (words to the effect of) whether
he wanted to retire carly. and contemporaneously un-holstered his pistol, pointed the barrel
upwards and then "waved it around lazily.” Sergeant Guerrero stated that Staff Sergeant
Wilson’s reply was, *1°d rather you not shoot me.” Sergeant Guerrero stated that he had no way
of knowing whether the accused had his pistol at condition three or one.

(¢) During cross-examination, Sergeant Guerrero confirmed that there was some
complacency with weapons aboard Camp Dwyer (“a tew™). He also stated that the EAF was at
the border of the base, and that the EAF mission importance overall was a 9 out of 10. He
considered Staff Sergeant Wilson to be a mentor, and that Statf Sergeant Wilson was an “abused
beat dog™ around the accused. Sergeant Guerrero stated that on another occasion at a Camp
Dwyer smoke pit, the accused un-holstered his weapon to emphasize that “We're going to
condition three.” Sergeant Guerrero stated that he did not feel threatened during the incident in
the COC,

(2) Sergeant Rich (Telephonic Witness Attending Sergeant’s Course)

(a) Sergeant Rich clarified that the EAF maintenance project was for runway repairs
as well as lighting repairs. He worked for Staff Sergeant Wilson and estimated the incident in
question to have occurred around 1200. Iis recollection of how personnel were positioned at the
time in question is consistent with the diagrams in IE 3 and 4. Sergeant Rich recalls the accused
to have drawn his pistol, raised it up alongside his head with the barrel pointing upwards and
uttered words to the effect of, “Why wait for retirement? Let’s end it now.” He described the
accused to have waved his pisto] around nonchalantly, and “all over the place.” He stated that
the accused’s tone did not seem to be joking, and that he felt threatened at the time in question.
Camp Dwyer’s weapon’s condition policy was condition three at this time.

(b) During cross-examination, Sergeant Rich stated that he had served with Statt
Sergeant Wilson in the past, but had never spoken with him outside of a professional setting.
Sergeant Rich also confirmed that he was friends with Sergeant Guerrero. Scrgeant Rich stated
that Statt Sergeant Wilson was frustrated by the maintenance and lighting project because it was
“unscheduled maintenance™ and that Staff Sergeant Wilson felt that the project “should be 2™
MAW’s problem.™ This was a reference to the fact that relief in place (RIP) was underway with
MWSS 372, Sergeant Rich confirmed that he also had been tasked to measure dimensions on
the damaged portion of the runway, and that his figures were correct, whereas Staff Sergeant
Wilson's were incorrect.

(3) Captain Dimoh

(a) Captain Dimoh confirmed that he served as XO of detachments and that RIP with
MWSS 372 was underway at the time in question. Captain Dimoh had previously served in the
Army as a Military Police Officer. He stated that he was seated directly 1o the lett of the aceused
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in the COC. He testified that at the time in guestion, he was working on fitness reports and
turnover, and that he was listening to music with his headphones on. He stated that the volume
of his music was such that he could hear some conversation in the COC but not all. He noticed
nothing out of the ordinary or consistent with the allegations of the other witnesses. He didn’t
hear about the incident until around 2300-2400.

(b) During cross-examination, Captain Dimoh drew and labeled the diagram
submitted as IE 4, referring to the area and positioning within the COC tent. He confirmed he
was aware of Staft Sergeant Wilson’s miscalculations, and that the lighting repairs were being
conducted for an upcoming CMC visit. For further clarification, he stated that the table behind
which both he and the accused were situated stood about 3.5 to 4 feet high. He also stated that
his chair was approximately 12-18 inches away from that of the accused. He described the
accused as “demanding but never threatening.” Captain Dimoh stated that no one ever
approached him about the incident and that under the accused, the work environment was
demanding, but morale was high. He stated that the only time he had seen the accused un-holster
his pistol was at the range, and that it was pursuant to standard range procedures.

(4) Staff Sergeant Wilson (Telephonic Witness From Pensacola, Florida

(a) Staft Sergeant Wilson officially retired from the Marine Corps on August 31,
2011. He confirmed that he deployed with MWSS 373 from September 2010 to April 2011.
During the time in question, his reporting senior was Captain Dimoh and his reviewing ofticer
was the accused. He confirmed that the accused was upset with him because his measurements
of the damaged runway were initially incorrect. Staff Sergeant Wilson testified that the accused
un-holstered his pistol, pointed the barrel at a 45-degree angle to the deck, and stated words to
the effect of, “Would you like to work on an early retirement? All I have to do is the
paperwork.™ Staft Sergeant Wilson stated that he replied to the accused with, “I"d rather you not
shoot me, Sir.” His pistol appeared to be in condition three, but he couldn’t be sure between
condition three or one.

{b) During cross-examination, Staff Sergeant Wilson confirmed that the accused
pointed his pistol to the deck at approximately a 45-degree angle, and that Staff Sergeant Wilson
was positioned at approximately 2 or 3 o’clock from the accused. Ile also confirmed that afier
the incident in question, he approached Sergeant Rich and Sergeant Guerrero and asked both of
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them, “Did that seem wrong to you guys? Do you think he threatened me!

Block 14: In response to my question, DC raised no issue during the hearing concerning cither
the accused’s mental responsibility at the time of the alleged commission of the otfenses charged
or of the accused’s competency to participate in his own defense.

Block 15: Defense Objections. Although CDC did not submit written objections to be included
in this report, 1 have summarized defense objections and my responses below that were raised

prior to and during the hearing.



(a) 10 Determination of Witness Unavailability (SSgt Wilson and Sgt Rich)

(1) R.C.M. 405(g)( 2} A) states that “The investigating officer shall make an initial
determination whether a military witness is reasonably available. If the investigating officer
decides that the witness is not reasonably available, the investigating officer shall so inform the
parties.” R.C.M. 405(g)(1)}(A) states that a witness 1s “reasonably available™ when the witness is
“located within 100 miles of the situs of the investigation and the significance of the testimony
and personal appearance of the witness outweighs the difficulty, expense, delay, and effect on
military operations of obtaining the witness® appearance.” The discussion to this subsection
points out that a witness located beyond the 100-mile limit is “not per se unavailable,” and that
“the significance of the witness’ live testimony must be balanced against the relative difficulty
and expense of obtaining the witness’ presence at the hearing.”

(2) On August 26, 2011, 1 sent an email to GC and DC confirming the hearing date of
September 8, 2011 and also asking for confirmation of witnesses either side wanted to call. On
August 29, 2011, 1 received a request from GC to determine Staff Sergeant Wilson (on terminal
leave in Florida) and Sergeant Rich (attending the USMC Sergeant’s Course at 29 Palms,
California) unavailable to testify in person pursuant to R.C.M. 405(g)(2)(A). Later that day, |
received an email from CDC, requesting a continuance from September 8 to September 29,
2011, and also objecting to the “failure to produce military witnesses.” CDC stated his opinion
that it was unacceptable that Staff Sergeant Wilson not be produced, since he is the victim named
in the charges and that he could be ordered back from terminal leave. Sec IE 7.

(3) On August 30, 2011, I asked GC to provide me with Staff Sergeant Wilson's
location within Florida, his EAS date, and Sergeant Rich’s graduation date from the Sergeant’s
Course in 29 Palms. | received an email back from GC the same day, stating that Staff Sergeant
Wilson's EAS was August 31, 2011 {the next day). and that he was located in Pensacola, Florida
[ also learned that Sergeant Rich was scheduled to graduate from the Sergeant’s Course at 29
Palms on October 12, 2011,

(4) Staft Sergeant Wilson is located approximately 1.800 miles from the location of
the hearing. In addition, he was retiring from active duty the following day. Although his in-
person testimony is obviously relevant, 1 considered the significant delay already associated with
the case (30 days previously approved at the request of defense), and the expense of flying in a
witness from across the country. Additionally, Sergeant Guerrero and Captain Dimoh were still
scheduled to testify in person, and according to the NCIS investigation (which | reviewed only to
determine which witnesses may be necessary), they were in close proximity to both Staft
Sergeant Wilson and the accused during the incident in question. Based upon all of these lactors,
I determined that Staff Sergeant Wilson was not reasonably available. Sergeant Rich was a
student at the Sergeant’s Course at 29 Palms, California, which is located approximately 175
miles from Marine Corps Air Station Miramar. For the same reasons identified above, as well as



his attendance at a mandatory USMC career course, [ informed all parties via email on August
30, 2011 that | determined both Staff Sergeant Wilson and Sergeant Rich to be unavailable. 1E 7.

(5) At the actual hearing on September 29, 2011 CDC again requested that Stalt
Sergeant Wilson (now a civilian) and Sergeant Rich be produced. GC and CDC engaged in
extensive argument about whether or not the Government had properly “invited™ Staff Sergeant
Wilson to the hearing, and whether or not he had indicated a willingness to appear at the hearing
in person. During cross examination of Staff Sergeant Wilson, CDC specifically asked whether
he had “been invited™ to attend the Article 32 hearing by the Government. Staft Sergeant Wilson
replied that he had not. During re-direct by GC, Staft Sergeant Wilson stated that it was
probable that he in fact had been invited through previous discussions with Government
representatives, and that he may have indicated a preference to testify telephonically, and that he
may have stated that he was uneasy about missing time off from work. See IE 6. In my opinion,
this extensive argument between counsel during the hearing is irrelevant for the purposes of my
initial determination of unavailability. The discussion to R.C.M. 405(g)(2)(B) states thal “The
investigating officer should initially determine whether a civilian witness is reasonably available
without regard to whether the witness is willing to appear. If the investigating ofticer determines
that a civilian witness is apparently reasonably available, the witness should be invited to attend
and when appropriate, informed that necessary expenses will be paid.” [ had already determined
Staff Sergeant Wilson and Sergeant Rich to be unavailable prior to the hearing. I advised all
counsel well in advance of the hearing that | wanted to pursue telephonic testimony for both. At
the hearing, | reiterated that determination, and both testified telephonically. [ did not consider
any additional alternatives to their testimony.

(b) 10 Consideration of the Diagram in IE 3

(1) CDC objected at the hearing to my consideration of the COC diagram in 1E 3.
The grounds for his objection is that the diagram is not a properly “authenticated copy,
photograph, or reproduction of similar accuracy of the evidence” pursuant to R.C.M.
405(g)(5)(B)(ii). Sergeant Guerrero deseribed the evidence contained in the diagram {rom his
own memory, using a “clock™ orientation description. Atier he described the evidence from
memaory, he was handed [E 3 by GC, and stated that it fairly and accurately represented the COC
tent and everyone’s relative position during the time in question. He made two minor “clock”
adjustments after reviewing the diagram, which [ considered insignificant. Therctore, | accepted
and considered 10 3.

(¢) 10 Consideration of Wing Policy Letter 1-10 (Ammunition and Weapons Policy

(1) CDC objected to my consideration of the Wing Policy Letter contained in IE 3 on
the grounds of relevance. Essentially, CDC argued that since this 1s not a pumitive order, but
only a policy letter, it is not relevant. The Wing Policy Letter contains, among other things, the
Wing’s Forward Operating Bases’ policies regarding the combat load for the MY pistol, weapons



safety rules and carrying conditions for the M9, In light of the charges in this case. | considered
the Wing policy on those issues relevant.

Block 18: The testimony consistently established a scenario where the accused was frustrated
with Staff Sergeant Wilson because of his submission of incorrect runway measurement data.
Three of the witnesses saw the accused un-holster his weapon inside the COC and ask Staff
Sergeant Wilson words to the etfect of whether he wanted to retire early. The combination of the
accused un-holstering his pistol and the contemporaneous comment about early retirement
establishes a prima facie case for all four charges. In fact, reasonable grounds support the
reckless endangerment charge simply by virtue of the alleged un-holstering and pistol waving of
the accused in the COC in front of several Marines, while presumably at weapons condition
three.

Block 21:

(a) Threatening Words. Menacing Gesture and Fear of Immediate Harm

(1) The Government’s case essentially relies on the trier of fact to determine, bevond
a reasonable doubt, a combination of threatening words and menacing gesture from the accused.
which created in the mind of Staff Sergeant Wilson a reasonable fear of immediately being shot.
Technically, the fear clement 1s only required for the aggravated assault charge (Charge I).
However, Additional Charge | (Maltreatment) alleges the same assault as the basis of the
maltreatment. Therefore, without the combination of all three (words, gesture and fear), the
Government loses the most significant charge of aggravated assault, as well as the related
maltreatment charge. Similarly, communicating a threat technically requires only that the
accused wrongfully communicated language to another that indicated a present intent to injure.
In this case however, the alleged language (asking someone if they want to retire carly), in and of
itself, does not express a present intent to injure without the simultaneous un-holstering. The
Government recognized this and theretore combined the words and the un-holstering in Charge
I1.

(2) Sergeant Guerrero and Sergeant Rich both testified that the accused un-holstered
his pistol, raised it up with the barrel pointing upwards next to his head, and then waved it
around “lazily” or “nonchalantly” before re-holstering. Staff Sergeant Wilson. on the other hand.
testified that the accused un-holstered his pistol, then pointed the pistol downwards toward the
deck at approximately a 45-degree angle before re-holstering. Either version could support the
charges (un-holstering itself may be enough, combined with the accused’s statement), but the
problem for the Government is the strange inconsistency between witnesses from similar
distances and vantage points. Staff Sergeant Wilson is in fact the alleged “vietim™ in the
charges, but his account of the pistol barrel direction and movement is opposite of the two
sergeants. Sergeant Guerrero went so far as to say that the accused’s weapon was *
place” and that he was waving it around at head level. Captain Dimoh, who was secated directly

all over the



to the left of the accused, observed nothing out of the ordinary, as he was wearing headphones
and listening to music while he worked at his computer. However, the fact that someone whose
chair was only “12-18 inches away™ (and with an unobstructed view of the accused), failed to
visually notice the pistol waving described by Sergeant Guerrero and Sergeant Rich will simply
add to the inconsistency among the Government's witnesses. The trier of fact may of course
chouse to believe one source of testimony over others, or even choose to believe portions of
different sources. In this case however, where four witnesses are within a few feet of each other
within the same work space, all extremely close to the accused, this degree of inconsistency will
likely equate to reasonable doubt that any menacing act or gesture ever oceurred.

(3) Staff Sergeant Wilson stated that after the accused un-holstered his pistol and
made the “carly retirement” comment, he replicd with, “I'd rather you not shoot me Sir.™ This
could be taken one of two ways by the trier of fact. It could be seen as self-evident that Staff
Sergeant Wilson was afraid that he was about to be shot. However, it could also be taken as a
sarcastic response from him in a situation he didn’t take seriously. Staff Sergeant Wilson
{estified during cross-examination that he later approached Sergeant Rich and Sergeant Guerrero
and asked them both, *Did that seem wrong to you guys? Do you think he threatened me?”
Repardless of how Staff Sergeant Wilson may explain this at trial, the fact that he asked others if
they thought hie was threatened is, in my opinion. a significant weakness to elements of Article
128-Assault (fear of “immediate bodily harm™), Article 134-Communicating a Threat (the
accused communicated a “present determination or intent” to shoot him), and Article 134-
Maltreatment (the maltreatment theory being essentially the same assault).

(b) Appropriate Forum. After considering all of the testimony and exhibits provided at
the hearing, 1 don’t believe this case merits referral to a court-martial. It is unlikely that the
evidence presented at trial would satisfy the requisite burden of proof that Staff Sergeant Wilson
had a reasonable apprehension that he was about to be shot, or that the accused communicated a
threat to shoot him. The accused apparently stopped short ol actually pointing his pistol. His
waords about retirement are certainly open to more than one reasonable interpretation. In fact,
Staff Sergeant Wilson stated on cross-examination that he understood the accused’s statement,
“All I have to do 1s the paperwork™ to mean literally that he could put in the paperwork so that
Staft Sergeant Wilson could retire early. Finally, the four witnesses present in the COC, who
were all within a few feet of the accused, have significant inconsistencies in what they perceived
at the time in question. Therefore, I recommend the accused be notified of Commanding
General’s NJP pursuant to Part V, Manual for Courts-Martial (2008) and Chapter [, Part B of the
JAGMAN. 1 further recommend that the alleged offenses at NJP be violations of Article |34-
Reckless Endangerment and Article 92, Dereliction of Duty (willful). The focus of the reckless
endangerment should be not only Staff Sergeant Wilson, but should also include Sergeant
Guerrero, Sergeant Rich and Captain Dimoh as potential vietims.
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CHARGE SHEET
o ‘ =5 I PERSONAL DATA
1. MAME OF ACCUSED (Las! First. M) 255N 3. GRADE DR RANK [& PaY GRADI
EICKENHORST, David [. - 339 60 3370 Maj [ ©Oa4
5. LNIT OR ORGANIZATION &, CUARENT SERVICE
Marine Wing Support Squadron 371 DOEB: a IMITIAL DATE b TERM
Marine Wing Support Group 37 19 Dec 66 f
Third Marine Arcraft Wing ' i
Marine Corps Alr Station Miramar, California £
27 Sep Indel |
7 PAY PER MCNTH 8. NATURE OF RESTRAINT OFACCUSED |0, DATE(S) IMPOSED
B BASIC [b_ SEA/FOREIGN DUTY |2, TOTAL
Mone MNi/A
$6,851.10 Mons $6,851.10

Il. CHARGES AND SPECIFICATIONS

10. Charge I: Violation of the UCMJ, Articie 128

Specification: In that Major David |, Eickenhorst, U.S. Marine Corps, Marine Wing Support Squadron 371, Marine Wing
Support Group 37, 3d Marine Aircralt Wirg, on active duty, did, at or near Camp Dwyer. Afghanistar, on or about 18 March
2011, commit &n assault upan S3gt Christopher Wilson by gasturing toward him with a dangerous weapon likely to produce
death or grievous bodily harm, to wit; a loaded firearm.

Charge Il: Viclation of the UCMJ, Article 134

Specification: In that Major David 1, Eickenhorst, U.S. Marine Corps, Maring Wing Suppont Squadron 371, Marine Wing
Suppart Group 37, 3d Marine Aircraft Wing, on active duty, did, at or near Camp Dwyer, Afghanistan, on or about 18 March

011, wrengfully communicate to 3Sgt Christopher Wilson a threat to injure him, to wil: Majar Eickenhorst said. "yeu're fucking
up” then unholstered his weapon and said, "want to work on an early ret rement? and that under the circumstances, the

asccused's conduct was to the prejudice o good order and discipling in the armed fcrces "\_ﬁ SR sty st
1ll. FREFERRAL
11a. NAME OF ACCUSER (Lasl, First MR b GRADE c. ORGANIZATION OF ACCUSER
PERE’, Christopher B. GySgt HOHQRON, MCAS Miramar, CA

d 5|GNA1T,|HEOF-':.{>CU5EH ' R e DATE

AFFIDA‘-.-’!T Befc re me, the undersigned, authorized by law to ad'nrn|51er oatns i cabes 01 trus Chal_uClE" persnnd'v
appeared fhe above named accuserthis 0 dayeof __ vt 2011, and signed the feregoing charges
and specifications under cath that he/ske is a persan subject to the Uniform Code of Military Justice and that hefsbe gither
has personal knowledge of or has investigated the matters set forth therein and that the same are true 1o the best of

his/rer knowledge and belief,

A. B. HOLMES HOHAQROMN, MCAS Miramar, CA
Tyned Mame of Officer Crgamzation of Oftizer
Captain, U.S. Marine Coros Judae Advocate
Grade Otfipizl Capaciy iv Admuimster Oalh

{See R.C.M 307(b)- must be commissicned officer)
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UNITED STATES MARINE CORPS

30 MARME AIRCRAFT WING
MARME CORPES AR STATION MIRAMAR
B3 50X 452038
SAN HEGD CALIFORNIA #2145-2008

perties and is for good ¢ ;
shall complete your investigation no later than 7 September 2011,
unless you grant a continuance as discussed above.

i. Up completion of this
including therein your re

WS

within seven (7) days af:

o notifyv my Staff Judge

subyject case. L1 o

copy of any reguests forp

o
1,




F. Q. BOX 452013
SAN DIEGO, CALIFORMNIA 22145-2013

UNITED STATES MARINE CORPS
.. " ) E MARINE CEUF:.:‘_“;\ I.:‘J.ri:' S;..-;.[IETF‘F.‘?M.RM.‘.F-\.‘-G

From: Military Justice Officer, MCAS Miramar

To: Investigating Officer
Subj: ARTICLE 32 HEARING ICO U.S. v. ETCKENHORST

Encl: 1) Diagram cof Camp Dwyer FOB work

s
2) 3d MaW {(Fwd) Policy letter 1-10 dated 21 Apr 10

RG2S

1. The attached enclosures are submitted for your consideration

as investigative exhibits.

s “:ﬂ1klr1«hly¢ the following witnesses were called and
testified at subject named Article 32 investigation on 29
September 201

Sgt Manual Guerrero, USMC
Sgt Jacob Rich, UsSMC
Capt Patrick Dimoch, USMC

Sgt (Ret.) Christopher Wilson, USM

3. The point of contact regarding this mattér
Sergeant Pere’, Military Justice Chief. '

858-577-4110.
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UNITED STATES MARINE CORPS
ID MARINE AIRCRAFT WING
Unic 41007
FPO, AF 96527-1007

1000
oG
21 Rpr 10

WING POLICY LETTER 1-10

From: Commanding General, 3d Marine Aiyxcraft Wing (Forward)
To: Distribution List =

Subj: 3D MARINE AIRCRAFT WING (FORWARD)} AMMUNITION AND WEAPONS POLICY

Raf: {&y CJCSI 3121.01E, Encl. A (SROE) ()
{b! HU ISAF S0P 373 (Force Escalation Awarsness) (B//REL)
{¢) MOO S5530.14A (Physical Security)
(d} MCO &5500.&6G (Use of Force Arming of Law Enforcemsnt and
Becurity Personnel)

Encl :

Combat Load and Weapons Checklist

Weapons Safety Rules and Cenditions ¢f Carry
Escalation of Force Brief Items

Self-Defenge Brief ltems

Dry Weapon Drills Syllabug

o my om m —
bt B
e M i

o

1. Purpoge. To ensure uniformity, safety, and efficlency in the issuing and
accounting of ammunition and weapons while in Camp Leatherneck, Forward
Operating Bases (FOBs), and in a combar environment. The desired endstate is
to allow all personnel the ability to defend themselves while mitigating the
risks asscciated with carrying weapons and ammunition.

2. Weapons Handling

a. All personnel shall bave a service rifle and/or pistol and all issued
ammunition on their person except during the following timss:

{1} Shower/hygiene
{2) Gym or physical training

(3] Within medical facilities onboard U.S. military Forward Operating

{4) Wichin 3d MAW (FWD) Headguarters office spaces (inside of ECP).

b. When weapons and ammunition are not on a person, the following storage
procedures shall apply:

(1) Weapons shall be under armed guard or double-locked. Ammunition
#hall be stored under armed guard or double-locked and separate from the
weaporn.

{2} Hormal Examples

ENCLOSURE ( /)




Bubj: 3B MARINE ATRCRAFT WING (FORWARD) AMMUNITION AND WEAPONS POLICY

{a] Billeting Temporary Storage

i. M4 Carbine cable-locked to rack, billeting door locked OR M4
Carbine cable-locked to rack, voommate informed and positively assumes weapon guard
responsibilities, Individual removes the M4 magazine from the stock pouch and maintains
thu;: rounds/magazines on their person OR locks them in a container that is scparate
from che weapon.

2. MZ Pistol locked within a footlocker, billeting door locked
OR MS Pistol cable-locked to rack, roommate informed and positively assumes
weapon guard responsibilities. Individusl maintains their rounds/magazines on
their persen OR locks them in a container that is separate from the weapon.

L'I“

Office Temporary Storaoe, M4 Carbine or M9 Pistol plaged in
weapon rack or cother ‘Dca:ion designated by an CGIC, where a Co-worker iB
asgigned and assumes pogitive weapon guard responsibilities. This weapon must
be in condition 4 and cable-locked. At no time shall any weapons be left
without a co-worker assigned as weapon guard. Each individual shall maintaio
their rounds/magazines on their person, lock them in an ammunition contalner
that is separate from the weapon, or leave them with a co-worker tasked as
ammunition guard.

€. Weapen Confiacation

(1) Conditicn levels and safe weapons handling will bes strictly
enforced. ZAnyone whe willfully and unnecessarily elevates the condition level
of their weapon or improperly handles their weapon (negligence or horseplay)
will have their weapﬂnfammun1t10ﬁ cenfiscated by the nearest SHCO or Officer.

(2} Perscnnel that exhibit poor judgment and/or discipline, or present
significant mentsl health concerns will be carefully evaluated and may be
subject to administrative action to include possible re-deplaoyment ocut of
theater. Viclaters may be subject to adverse administrative action and/or
punitive action under the Uniform Code of Military Justice.

i3) Weapons and ampunition shall be configecated in any of the following
clrocumstances:

{a) Personnel under medical care that includes tLreatment for
emotional or psychological reasons.

{b) Disciplinary problems.

(2} Lack of proper weapons handling and/or safekeeping.
{d} Suicidal ideations or attempts.

{e} Anger management concerns.

{f) Other circumstances in which the Commanding Officer determines
that good cause exists to configcate weapons and/or ammunition.

(4} Buicidal/Dangerous Patients

(&) Any patient identified to be at imminent risk for suicide or
harm to others shall have their weapon and ammunition confiscated immediately.
The command must be notified immediatcely.

t

ENCLOSURE (7))




Subj: 3D MARINE AIRCRAFT WING {(FORWARD) AMMUNITION RMD WEAPONS POLICY

(b) Any pacient identified to be at imminent risk for suicide or
arm to others will be immediately assigned a2 1:1 ratic watch. The watch will
be an NCO or higher in rank than the at-risk individusl. Thig person will be
briefed by the commander or senior enlisted advisor and instructed on their
dutieg,

(o) Any patient identified to be an immediate risk for suici
harm to athers will be referred to the Combined Aid Station (CAS) ox the Flight
Line Aid Station {FLAS) for safety and acute stabilization. The patient will
be maintained on 100% 1:1 obserwvation atr the sguadron until appropriate
transportation and handover is available. A minimum of two daily follow-ups by
a proper health care provider shall be conducted until evacuated.

3. Weaspons and Ammunition Issue

a. Refresher Training. PFrior to Squadron personnsl receiving any
ammmunition the following must happen:

+f

(1} Bguadrons conduct EME on main points of this poligy.

-

(2} Bguadrons conduct classss on the following items:
fa) Sguadron Commanding Officer Guidance.
{b) Weapon Safety Review, enclosure (2},
{c) Emcalation of Force Brief, enclosure {35.

-

Zelf-Defense Brief, enclosure {4).

=1

{2) Dry Weapon Drills, enclosure (5}.
{f} Weapon Safety Test.

{g! Rounds Issued.

(b} Sustainment Training by Leadership.

b. Authorization Procepg. Additional weapons and ammunition must be
approved by the Commanding Qfficer, and then may be checked cut from sguadron
armory for mission-dependent reasons. The Sample Combat Load & Weapons
Checklist, enclosure (1), shall be used for proper authorization, Once the
need for additional weapons and ammunition ends (e.g. termination of duty or
tripi they shall be checked back into the squadron armory.

¢. Camp Leatherneck Loads. Per reference (&), the Mé and M3 shall be in
Conditjon 4 unless duty, mission, or situation dictactes otherwise. Nething in
this order shall be construed to limic the ability of squadron personnel to
defend themselves individually or collectively.

{a) M9 Pietol: 2 x Mags of 15 rounds each
Minimum 30 total per reference (c)
Alternate rounds to other mags on weekly basis

(b M4 Carbine: 1 x Mag of 27 rounds

ENNCLOSURE ( &)



Subj: 3D MARINE AIRCRAFT WING (FORWARD) AMMUNITION AND WERDONS FOLICY

{a) M2 Pistol: 2-4 x Mags of 15 rounds {30-60 rounds
totall

(b} M4 Carbine: -5 % Mags of 27 rounds (54-162 rounds total]

%]

e. Guardian Angel Duty. While on duty the Guardian Angel Personnel shall
be outfitted with a Full Combat Load. While on duty the Guardian Angel shall
be Condition 1, unless situation dictates otherwigse. If the duty is not 2
hasty assignment these individuals shall receive an RT/FP update.

f. Sguadron Armorer. The Armorer shall be armed with an M9 Pistol and at
Condition 1 at all times while on ducy, per reference (c). While on duty, the
drmorer shall be outfitted with a Full Combat Load. The Armorer shall change
te Conditbion 4 prior to leaving duty, and return to their original Garrison

Load,

4. Amnesty Box. An Amnesty Box shall be maintained near and under the watch
of sguadron duty. The Amnesty Box is for the uphindered return of any found
ammunition. The Amnesty Box will be inventoried each morning by the Ammunicicn
Tachnicians. Absent extraordinary circumstances, sgquadron personnel will not
be subject to administrative or punitive action for using the amhesty box.

5. Armory
a. Inventories. An armory inventory shall be conducted

monLhly .

b. Morning Reports. Morning Reports shall be delivered to the squadron
armery so that the Armorer can correctly account for weapons/ammuniticn of
individuals that are on leave, liberty, or =ick in guarters.

6. Conclusicn. These standard operating progedures are designed to ensure
uniformity, safety, and efficiency in the sguadrons’ issuing and accounting of
ammunition and weapons while at Camp Leatherneck, FOBs, and in a combat
envircnment .

A. W. O'DONNELL, JR.

DISTRIBUTION: A

ENCLOSURE (/)



Combat Load & Weapons Checklist

1. DName: Print Fname, Lname
2., Bection: = Section or Department
3. Reason for additional Ammo/Weapon:
4. OQIC approves of Mission ' initials
5. Missions outside Base & FOBs reguire CoS/DCG/CG approval:
rint Name of Approver: o

Signature of Approver: o
6. Refregher/Sustainment Training: initials

a. Weapon Safety Review, enclosure (2)

b. Escalation of Force Brief, enclosure (3)

c. Self-Defense Brief, enclosure (4)

d. Weapon Safety Test

'

Dxy Weapon Drillsg, enclosure (5)

7. MWHS-3 5-1 Administration

a. Roster updated with plammed Location initials
8. Commanding Officer, MWHS-3, approves/disapproves for
additional (weapons/ammo) from MWHS-3 Armory.

R. J. VRRNISH
3. Armory
a. Additional Weapon Card (signed)
b. Additional Ammo/Weapon issued

¢. Additional Ammo/Weapon de-iszsued

Enclosure (1)

2t{CLOSURE (2)



1. Treat

2. HNever

3,

Weapons Safety Rules
every weapon as 1if it were loaded

point a weapon at anything you do not intend to shoot.

Keep trigger finger straight and off the trigger until you are

ready to fire

4. Keesp weapon on safe until you intend to fire.

S. Know your Target and what lies beyond.

Condition
wWeapoh on

Condition

Condition
weapon on

Condition
WEADOn on

Condition
WEeapon on

Condition

Condition
weapon on

Condition
weapon on

Carrying Conditions for the M4

1. Round in chamber, bolt forward, magazine inserted,
or off safe, ejection port cover closed.

2. DOES NOT EXIST FCR M4

3. Empty chamber, bolt forward, magazine inserted,
safe, ejection port cover closed.
4. Empty chamber, bolt forward, no magazine inserted,

F=

safe, ejection port cover closed.

Carrying Conditions for the M9

1. Magazine slide forward,

safe.

ingerted, Round in chamber,

2. DCES NOT EXIST FOR M9

3. Magazine glide forward,

safe.

ingerted, chamber empty,

4., Magazine slide forward,

zafe.

removed, chamber empty,

Enclosure {2)

ENCLOSURE (2 }




Escalation of Force Brief Items

Clagzsifiad - see refersnce (bl

Enclosure (3)

EINCLOSURE ( Z)




Self-Defense Brief Items
See reference (a)

1. Have you witnessed a hostile act (HA) or hostile intemnt (HI)?

2. Does you have Positive Identification (PID) of the source of
the HA/HI?

3. Have you implemented escalation of force procedures?

4. 1If yes to ALL, you MAY respond with force up tc and including
deadly force.

Enclosure (4)

EI:CLOSURE (£ )
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Dry Weapon Drills Syllabus

Holster Drills
Dry Action Drills from Condition 4 to Dry Condition 3
Ready Alert Drille in Dry Condition 3, Muzzle Awareness
Immediate Action Dryv Drills
a. Tap, Rack, Bang
b. SPORTS
Dry Magazine Drills, Ejecting and Speed Reload
Clearing Drills
a. Action Drills from Dry Condition 3 to Condition 4
b. Clearing Barrel Drills, verifying Condition 4

{1} Ensuriﬂg Magazine removed

{2) Bolt/8lide to rear

{3) Ingpect Chamber AND Magazine Well
Drills emphasizing Clearing prior to Cleaning
Cleaning/Maintenance & Refresher training
(a} Amnesty Box
(b} Desert environment cleaning/lube considerations

(c) Emphasize “every weapon congidered loaded® before cleaning

Enclosure (&)

EIICLOSURE (/)
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Pere GySgt Christopher B

L e e — i
From: Pere GySgt Christepher B
Sent: Monday, August 29, 2011 4:54 PM
Te: theangrydolphin @ yahoo.com'
Subject: RE: Re: Article 32 haaring 1C0 Major Eickenhorst
Attachments: Witness Info Sheet.doc
Signed By: christopher.pere@usmc.mil

S5gt Wilson,

Solution, if needs be will be the government will issue you travel orders and a subpoena
{happens all the time even with civilians) and you will be reimbursed for your travels
{lodging, etc..) as if you were TAD.

The simpler solution is to be readily available telephonically on 8 September (I will have a
more specific time for you as we get closer to the date). The number I have for you is BSB
516 %6@81. Please confirm if this is the best number to contact you. In the mean time please
complete and return the attached information sheet for our files.

I appreciate you getting back with me; I will be in touch.

S/F
GySgt Pere’

————— Original Message-----

From: theangrydolphin@yahoo.com [mailto:theangrydolphinfvahoo.com]
Sent: Monday, August 29, 2811 13:62

Ta: Pere Gy5gt Christopher B

Subject: Re: Article 32 hearing ICO Major Eickenhorst

GySgt, I will be a civilian by then and I'm already in Florida. What is my solution for
attending?

Sent from my Verizon Wireless Phone

————— Reply message -----

From: "Pere GySgt Christopher B" <christopher.perefiusmc.mils>

Date: Wed, Aug 24, 2611 3:56 pm

Subject: Article 32 hearing ICO Major Eickenhorst

To: "Dimoh Capt Patrick E" <patrick.dimoh@usmc.mil>, "Guerrero $gt Manuel A IV”
<manuel .a.guerrero@usmc.mil>, "Rich Sgt Jacob B" <jaceb.b.rich@usmc.mil>,
<theangrydolphin@vahoo.com>




Redman M_aJ'rHugh J

From: Redman Maj Hugh J

Sent: Friday, September 02, 2011 10:03 AM

To: Smith Maj Keith D; Marshall Maj Meridith L
Cec: haytham @puckettfaraj.com'

Subject: RE: Eickenhorst - continuance request2
Attachments: eickenhorst art 32 pdf

Signed By: hugh.redman@us.usmc.mil

ALCON:

Attached is the endorsed continuance reguest. I have approved the continuance to the 29th of
september. I understand the Government's cbjection, and recognize that this constitutes
significant delay in this case. However, based on all the circumstances, including Mr.
Faraj' multiple conflicts during this month which are stated in the continuance request, I
consider the delay reasonable.

Major Redman

------ Original Message-----

From: Smith Maj Keith D

Sent: Friday, September 82, 2811 9:292

To: Redman Maj Hugh J; Marshall Maj Meridith L
Cc: 'haytham@puckettfaraj.com’

Subject: RE: Eickenhorst - continuance request2

Maj Redman, the continuance request with the Government's response is attached.
/R,

Maj Smith

————— Original Message-----

From: Redman Maj Hugh J

Sent: Friday, September 82, 2811 9:16

Ta: Marshall Maj Meridith L

Cc: Smith Maj Keith D; 'haytham@puckettfaraj.com'

subject: RE: Eickenhorst - continuance request2

Thanks Majeor Marshall.

Major Smith, please endorse the Government's position and scan or fax back to me, whichever
is preferable.

On a minor note, my last name is spelled Redman. It's been cropping up as Redmon, to include
this continuance request.

Thanks,

Major Redman

————— Original Message-----
From: Marshall Maj Meridith L



Sent: Friday, September 82, 2011 9:86

To: Redman Maj Hugh 3

Cc: Smith Maj Keith D; havtham@puckettfarai.com
Subject: Eickenhorst - continuance request2

Good Morning Maj Redman,
Attached is the detailed continuance reguest in the case of US v. Eickenhorst.

R/
Major Marshall



vvvvv Original Message-----

From: Haytham Faraj [mailto:haytham@puckettfaraj.com]
Sent: Wednesday, August 31, 2811 15:59

To: Redman Maj Hugh 3

Subject: Re: Eickenhorst 32

Major Redmon,

I am not questioning your competence or objectivity. If i had a doubt I would
raise it. T objected to a decision. I am no where near having any doubis about
you personally.

Before we start this off on the wrong foot -perhaps we already have- leT me make
clear that I am objecting to SSgt Wilson not testifying in person not to your
objectivity to be an I0 in this matter. His testimony -in my opinion- will be so
crucial to your decision that if you don't hear from him to see what he alleges
happened and hear what he says, you will be making a decision based on a
statement. I cannot cross examine a statement and you can't ask 1t quastions. The
S5gt will be out of the Marine Corps when we have this regardless of when it
takes place. The government can invite him to come. If he declines, we will he
stuck with that but that was not attempted. Your decision can result in this case
going forward. But if hearing from the S55gt could possibly cause you to +ind that
there is not sufficient evidence to recommend referral, then the CA and Maj
Eichenhurst are entitled to that.

Rs,

Haytham Faraj
Sent from my iPad

----- Original Message-----

From: Redman Maj Hugh 3

Sent: Wednesday, August 31, 2811 9:21

To: 'Haytham Faraj’

Cc: Marshall Maj Meridith L; Smith Maj Keith D
Subject: RE: Eickenhorst 32

Mr. Faraj:

Please be careful when attempting to accuse me of "having a paper 32" over your
objections, prior te the hearing even being held, and insinuating that in any way
I accused you of misrepresenting your schedule, or doubted your word. MNeither of
those accusations are true, but I now will consider them formal accusations of
record against my objectivity and competence as an Article 32 officer, since that
is your clear insinuation.

I have been tasked by a General Officer with conducting an Article 32
investigation. I take that obligation seriously. That requires, in my opinian,
detailed records-including detailed reasons for extensive delay. I simply
requested that you describe the nature of your conflicts so that I had a complete
record prior to granting or not granting a continuance request. In no way did I
challenge that you had genuine reasons for delay. You can see the problem, I'm



sure, if I'm asked by a General Officer why an Article 32 is taking so long, and
my response To him is, "Well Sir, the Defense Counsel needed more time,” without
any facts to back that up. Detailed explanations for extensive delay is an
extremely basic Article 32 I0 duty I have always followed. Your initial response
to me simply that the proposed date was "untenable" and that you needed another
38 days would hardly create a sufficient record for me as the I0. It does NOT,
however, carry with it any allegation that I think you are misrepresenting your
availability.

Regarding your assertion that I am conducting a "Paper 32," that is, without
doubt, an insinuation that I am biased for the Government and/or incompetent in
ensuring that a thorough and impartial 32 take place (another responsibility I
take seriously). Your guote that now you are forced to consult with your client
"to see whether it is worth the expense to even have a 32" is an obvious
allegation that I am poised to conduct a meaningless 32 in violation of R.C.M.

485,

The objection you initially raised was to the Government's assertion that SSgt
Wilzon was unavailable to testify. After applying the balancing test contained
in R.C.M. 485, I determined that SSgt Wilson was unavailable. Your cbjection
will obviously be noted and preserved for the record. That hardly creates a
"paper 32 however," with two witnesses still scheduled to testify. I also asked
for input as to whether telephonic testimony from SSgt Wilson (his EAS is today)
would be amenable, to which I have yet to receive any reply.

As stated previously, due to the serious nature of your accusations zgzinst

myself personally, I will consider them a formal objection by yourself as to my
competence and partiality to continue as the article 32 I0.

Major Radman



Redman Maj Hugh J

From: Redman Maj Hugh J

Sent: Tuesday, August 30, 2011 5:11 PM

To: Smith Maj Keith D

Cc: Marshall Maj Meridith L; "Haytham Fara['; Holmes Capt Annamarie B
Subject: RE: Eickenhorst 32

Signed By: hugh.redman@us.usme.mil

Thanks Major Smith:

Pursuant to R.C.M. 485(g)(2)(A), I've determined that both S$5gt Wilson and Sgt Rich are
unavailable military witnesses.

Please send me a copy of the charge sheet.
Alcon:

Time and date still set for 8 September 2011, 8808, ILC, Miramar.

84F;

Major Redman

————— Original Message-----

From: Smith Maj Keith D

Sent: Tuesday, August 3@, 2811 14:14

To: Redman Maj Hugh 3J

Cc: Marshall Maj Meridith L; 'Haytham Faraj'; Holmes Capt Annamarie B
Subject: RE: Eickenhorst 32

Maj Redman, answers to your guestions are as follows:

1) Sgt Rich graduates from the Sgt's Course on 12 Oct 11 at 1884,
2) 5Sgt Wilseon's EAS is 31 Aug 11. He is currently located in Pensacola, FL.

Additionally, the only two exhibits the government intends to admit are the statements of 5gt
Rich and $5gt Wilson. The only twoe witnesses that the government intends to call are Capt
Dimoh and Sgt Guerrero. These exhibits are part of the lnvestigation that was previcusly
orovided to defense and defense has had ocpportunities to interview the witnesses.

VIR,
Maj Smith

————— Original Message-----

From: Redman Maj Hugh 3

Sent: Tuesday, August 3@, 2e11 8:35

To: Smith Maj Keith D; Holmes Capt Annamarie B
Cc: Marshall Maj Meridith L; ‘Haytham Faraj’
Subject: RE: Eickenhorst 32

Alcon:



I've seen two references by both sides to a S5gt Williams. After reviewing the
investigation, I assume we're gll referring to SS5gt Wilson, who is on terminal leave in
Florida? Would both sides be amenable to telephonic testimony by 55gt Wilson?

Major Smith--What is S5gt Wilson's EAS, and his location within Florida? Also, when does Sgt
Rich graduate from Corporal’'s course?

Mr. Faraj, I understand you are requesting a 3@-day continuance, but I really need more
specifics as to the reason for the continuance, such as the nature of conflicting cases and
their inclusive dates, or whether the basis is prep time, or a combination of the two.
Thanks in advance for any additional info you can provide me.

S/F,
Major Redman

----- Original Message-----

From: Redman Maj Hugh 3

sent: Monday, August 29, 2811 15:25

To: "Haytham Faraj’

Cc: Marshall Maj Meridith L; Smith Maj Keith D
Subject: RE: Eickenhorst 32

Mr. Faraj:

I understand that 8 September does not work for you. Can you give me a better idea of the
nature of your conflict for 3@ days? In other words, is this due to specific litigation
already scheduled or in progress over the next four weeks? If so, are you available weekends
during that time?

Thanks,
Major Redman

————— Original Message-----

From: Smith Maj Keith D

Sent: Monday, August 29, 2811 12:48

To: Redman Maj Hugh 3

Cc: Marshall Maj Meridith L; Pere GySgt Christopher B; 'Haytham Faraj'; Holmes Capt Annamarie
B

Subject: RE: Eickenhorst 32

Maj Redman, the Government objects to any further continuances or delays in this case. This
Article 32 Investigation was originally scheduled for 5 Aug 11, but was continued at the
reguest of defense to allow Maj Eickenhorst time to contract and consult with Mr. Faraj (see
attachment). The implication was that defense requested the time necessary for the
scheduling of this Investigation. Further, It is the government's positien that, in the in
interest of justice, the aggrieved parties (i.e., the command and the victim) need to move
forward with the prosecution of this case sooner rather than later.

VIR,

Keith D. Smith, Major, USMC

Military Justice Officer, MCAS Miramar
DSN: 312-267-6859

Commercial: B858-577-6859



Email: keith.d.smithl@usmc.mil
Email Work Product / Attorney-Client Privilege Motice:

MOTICE: ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGE or WORK PRODUCT PRIVILEGE may apply to this email,
including any attached files. Any review, use, distribution or disclosure by others is
prohibited. The contents of this message may be exempt from disclosure under the FOIA. If you
are not the addressee indicated in this message {or authorized to receive information for the
recipient), please contact the sender by reply e-mail and delete all copies of this message
(including any attachments).

————— Original Message-----

From: Redman Maj Hugh ]

Sent: Monday, August 29, 2811 12:27

To: 'Haytham Faraj'; Smith Maj Keith D

Cc: Marshall Maj Meridith L; Pere GySgt Christopher B
Subject: RE: Eickenhorst 32

Alcon:

Llet's tackle the availability issue first. What is the Government's position as to a
continuance to 29 September?

S/F,
Major Redman

————— Original Message-----

From: Haytham Faraj [mailto:haytham@puckettfaraj.com]

Sent: Monday, August 29, 2011 12:28

To: Smith Maj Keith D

Cc: Redman Maj Hugh J; Marshall Maj Meridith L; Pere GySgt Christopher B
Subject: Re: Eickenhorst 32

Maj Redman,

I apologize my tardiness in responding. September 8 is untenable for me. My first
availability is Sep 2%. I request that the Article 32 be rescheduled to that date.

I object to the failure to produce military witnesses. S$5gt Williams, as I understand, is the
main complainant. It's unacceptable that he is not produced. The fact that he is on terminal
leave is of no relevance. He can be ordered to return and testify. Terminal leave is still
leave.

b

Haytham Faraj
Sent from my iFhone

On Aug 29, 2811, at 9:81 AM, "Smith Maj Keith D" <keith.d.smithl@usmc.mil> wrote:

> Maj Redman, the government will be reguesting that Sgt Rich (attending 5gt's Course at
Twenty-Nine Palms) and SSgt Williams (on terminal leave in Florida) be found to be "not
reasonably available" and their sworn CID statements be admitted at the Article 32 in their
stead. This means that the only two witnesses that the gowvernment intends to call are Capt
Dimgh and Sgt Guerrerro.



>

> Absent any objections by defense, my Military Justice Chief is sending the entire
investigation to you simply to create context for the other statements/testimony. We
understand that you will only consider those items that are submitted at the actual Article
32 Investigation when you make your recommendation to the Convening Authority.

>

4lso, no objections to proceeding with the Article 32 on the below mentioned date and time.

V/R,

Keith D. Smith, Major, USMC

Military Justice Officer, MCAS Miramar
DSN: 312-267-6859

Commercial: 858-577-685%

Email: keith.d.smithl@usmc.mil

Email Work Product / Attorney-Client Privilege Notice:

VOWOVWV WV VY Y W N WV W WV

> NOTICE: ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGE or WORK PRODUCT PRIVILEGE may apply to this email,
including any attached files. Any review, use, distribution or disclosure by others is
prohibited. The ceontents of this message may be exempt from disclosure under the FOIA. If you
are not the addressee indicated in this message (or authorized to receive information for the
recipient), please contact the sender by reply e-mail and delete zll copies of this message
{including any attachments).

>

>

>

v

————— Original Message-----

From: Redman Maj Hugh J

Sent: Monday, August 29, 2811 3:48

To: Marshall Maj Meridith L; Smith Maj Keith D
Cc: 'haytham@puckettfaraj.com'

Subject: RE: Eickenhorst 32

ALCON:

WOONOWON NV NV NV WV

> Let's proceed with the Article 32 on 8 September, at e86e@ at the JLC, Miramar. Please let
me know if either side has any additional witnesses they wish to call, in addition to the
Government's listed below in the email chain. I have been delegated the authority to issue
continuances, so please let me know if 8 September is an issue,

Thanks,

Major Redman

NVONVVV Y

~

————— Original Message-----

From: Marshall Maj Meridith L

Sent: Friday, August 26, 2811 11:38

To: Redman Maj Hugh J; Smith Maj Keith D
Cc: haytham@puckettfarad.com

Subject: RE: Eickenhorst 32

Maj Redman,

Maj Eickenhorst has retained Mr. Haytham Faraj, cc’'d above.

A N N L A R A " "



>

I have not gotten a date of his availability yet as he has been in court. I did alert the

government to this already.

>

R Y Y R Y

N

A R T A Y A "

R/

Major Meridith L. Marshall
senior Defense Counsel

MCAS, Miramar

858-577-1720 (desk line)

dsn 267-1728

B58-997-8332 (government cell)
meridith.marshall@usme.mil

————— Original Message-----

From: Redman Maj Hugh 2

sent: Friday, August 26, 2811 11:27 AM

To: Marshall Maj Meridith L; Smith Ma] Keith D
Subject: Eickenhorst 32

Major smith/Major Marshall:

Just confirming 8 September for the 32 date. Does @808 work for you both? Also, 1'd like

to get 2 copy of the investigation IOT determine which witnesses 1 may want to have there
that aren't on either of your lists. So far (from Gunny Pere's attached email} from the
Government I have:

>

>
>
>
>
>
>

Capt Patrick Dimoh

S8gt Christopher Wilson
Sgt Manual Guerrero

Sgt Jacob Rich

Let me know if either of you foresee any availability issues or other concerns you'd like

to address prior to the hearing.

A N Y R VA Ve e Y " VAV SV

Thanks,
Major Redman

Major Hugh Redman, USMC
5JA, MCAS Yuma
928-269-3484 (DSN 269)
hugh. redman@usmc.mil
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